**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Lewis' directed verdict motion for acquittal of the charge of failure to register as a sex offender second offense pursuant to S.C. Code Section 23-3-0460 when the court had found that Lewis had not waived his right to counsel in the uncounseled magistrate's court first offense, which therefore made the first offense unconstitutional and which should not have been considered in the second offense?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2001, Appellant Tony Lewis was convicted of committing a lewd act on a child under sixteen and was imprisoned. R. 65, ll. 12 – 19. On January 16, 2014, he registered with the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office for the first time as a sex offender pursuant to S.C. Code Section 23-3-0460. R. 16, ll. 4 – 25. He was required to register twice a year and should have registered again in July 2014, but failed to register then. R. 16, ll. 2 – 25; R. 13, ll. 1- 25; R. 99. He was convicted in a trial held in his absence in magistrate's court on September 22, 2014, before the Honorable David James Turner. The sentence was thirty days imprisonment or a fine. R. 104.

On May 15, 2015, Lewis was arrested when officers went to his home to serve a warrant. R. 62, ll. 12 – R. 63, ll. 5. Three pills of phentermine were found inside the home which Lewis claimed were his. R. 62, ll. 25 – R. 63, ll. 5.

On June 25, 2015, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Lewis on the charges of violation of the sex offender registry second offense, and possession of phentermine. R. 79-80; R. 84-85. On March 16, 2016, Appellant Lewis proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger L. Couch. Defense counsel requested a bench trial for Lewis which the trial judge granted. R. 6, ll. 1 – 22. Lewis was represented by Howard Anderson, and the state was represented by Allison Mabbs. R. 1.

Defense counsel argued that the prior conviction for failure to register could not be used to enhance the current charge of failure to register to a second offense because the first offense was tried in Lewis' absence without an attorney to represent him. Counsel argued that the first offense was unconstitutional. R. 43, ll. 16 – R. 49, ll. 20. The trial judge took the issue under advisement and said he would issue an order later. R. 50, ll. 2 – 25.

On March 28, 2016, Judge Couch issued an order holding that “because Mr. Lewis did not validly waive his right to counsel in the trial before the magistrate’s court, any resulting conviction that imposed any sentence of incarceration – as that one did - may not be used against Mr. Lewis to aggravate the punishment of any subsequent offense, such as this one.” R. 107-109.

On March 31, 2016, Lewis appeared before Judge Roger Couch for sentencing on the sex offender registry violation and to plead to the drug charge. R. 55, ll. 1-25. The judge told Lewis that he had found him guilty of failure to register as a sex offender first offense “as opposed to the second offense they were attempting to charge him with.” R. 56, ll. 6 – 16. The court found that Lewis had 271 days of time served on the drug charge and one day of time served on the sex offender registry violation charge. R. 64, ll. 1 – 16. The judge sentenced Lewis to time served on the drug offense and to six months on the failure to register as a sex offender charge. R. 65, ll. 6 – R. 66, ll. 10.

On June 10, 2016, Lewis appeared again before Judge Couch for a hearing on the Rule 29, SCRCrimP, motion filed by defense counsel. Defense counsel explained that the judge had found Lewis guilty of failure to register as a sex offender first offense because the judge believed that Lewis had not waived his right to counsel for the first conviction for failure to register. R. 70, ll. 1 – 16.

Counsel told the court that the Rule 29 motion was concerned about the sentencing credit. Counsel argued that the judge had given Lewis credit for 276 days on the drug charge and only one day credit on the failure to register charge. However, based on the case of State v. Boggs, 388 S.C. 314, 696 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. Filed June 30, 2010), counsel argued that Lewis should receive credit for all of the time served, even on multiple charges, if the charges were all

adjudicated the same day. Therefore, he should receive credit for the time served prior to sentencing on both charges. Counsel explained that the sheriff believed that Lewis actually served only 172 days from July until trial. Counsel asked the judge to amend the sentence to give Lewis credit for the time he served from July through sentencing which was 172 days according to the sheriff on both charges. R. 71, ll. 11 – R. 72, ll. 12; R. 75, ll. 22 – R. 76, ll. 2. The judge said that he would read the cases and make a decision. R. 76, ll. 23 – R. 77, ll. 10.

On June 28, 2016, the trial judge issued an order wherein he modified the sentence for the failure to register as a sex offender to reflect that Lewis should receive 172 days of presentence credit rather than the one day originally indicated in the “judgment.” R. 105-106.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant Lewis' directed verdict motion for acquittal of the charge of failure to register as a sex offender second offense pursuant to S.C. Code Section 23-3-0460 when the court had found that Lewis had not waived his right to counsel in the uncounseled magistrate's court first offense, which therefore made the first offense unconstitutional and which should not have been considered in the second offense.

Appellant Tony Lewis was convicted in 2001 of committing a lewd act on a child under sixteen. R. 87; R. 65, ll. 12-19. In 2014, he was living with his parents and his brother, Bobby Ranson. R. 24, ll. 25 – R. 25, ll. 3. Lewis was required to register twice a year as a sex offender at the sheriff's office in Spartanburg. R. 99-100; R. 16, ll. 2 -25; R. 13, ll. 1-25.

His mother testified at his trial that she and her husband usually took Lewis to the sheriff's office to register. Once when they took him, they were told to be there before five o'clock and then it was changed to twelve o'clock. When they arrived at twelve, the lady in charge was not there. R. 25, ll. 25 - R. 26, ll. 21. After his father's heart attack, his brother took him to register. R. 25, ll. 12 – 24. The brother, Bobby Ranson, said that he lived with his parents and Lewis. He would take Lewis to register but the last time that Lewis went, Lewis told him that the woman was not there for him to register. R. 32, ll. 1 – 25.

Deborah Blanton, the Sex Offender Registry coordinator for the Spartanburg County Sheriff's office, reported that Lewis registered on January 16, 2014 and had not reported since. He was due to register in July 2014. R. 11, ll. 12 – 20; R. 16, ll. 3 – 25.

On September 22, 2014, a trial was held in Lewis' absence in magistrate's court. He was convicted of failing to register on the sex offender registry, and was sentenced to thirty days of a fine. R. 99-100; R. 104.

On May 15, 2015, Lewis was arrested and charged with failure to register as a sex offender second offense. R. 62, ll. 12 – R. 63, ll. 5. He proceeded to trial on March 16, 2016 in a bench trial. The sentencing sheet from Lewis' original conviction for lewd act on a child was marked as Court's Exhibit 1 when it was presented. Lewis' first conviction in magistrate's court for failing to register as a sex offender was presented and marked as Court's Exhibit 2. R. 8, ll. 13 – R. 9, ll. 13.

Defense counsel asked the judge if he could argue his directed verdict motion with his closing argument, and the judge agreed. R. 43, ll. 4 – 10. Defense counsel argued that because Lewis was tried in his absence on the first offense, that he had not waived his right to counsel. He was sentenced to a fine or thirty days in jail. Lewis had already served some time in jail. Counsel then cited Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367, (1979) and Nichols v. U.S., 511 U.S. 738 (1994) which held that "an uncounseled criminal conviction may not serve as the basis for an enhancement of a subsequent offense." Counsel argued that Lewis could not be lawfully convicted of a second offense because the first conviction was unconstitutional and could not be used to enhance his current charge to a second offense. Counsel argued that his current charge would then be a first offense. R. 43, ll. 12 – R. 44, ll. 19.

Defense counsel then then stated:

Well, no, actually because he's only been indicted---I think he has to be acquitted here because he was tried in absentia without counsel previously.

R. 44, ll. 20 -22.

Counsel claimed that the same reasons should apply to an acquittal as applied to not being able to enhance this charge to a second offense---that the first offense was unconstitutional because it was based on an uncounseled conviction. R. 44, ll. 23 – R. 45, ll. 3. Counsel asked

the trial judge to acquit Lewis of this second offense for failing to register as a sex offender either on constitutional grounds or on statutory grounds. R. 46, ll. 3 – 6.

The judge clarified with defense counsel that counsel was saying that the cases counsel cited were for the “proposition that if he’s uncounseled” and not represented by counsel, that that conviction cannot be used for enhancement. Defense counsel responded: “Yes, Judge,...because he was sentenced to jail time a fine or 30 days. He already served part of the 30 days because he’d been arrested.” R. 48, ll. 3 – 12.

On March 28, 2016, Judge Couch issued an order finding that the uncounseled conviction in magistrate’s court which resulted in the thirty day incarceration, could not be used to enhance the second offense. The order also provided that the prior conviction for failure to register was not an element of the second offense. The judge denied the request for an acquittal of the second offense. R. 107-109.

On March 31, 2016, Lewis appeared again before the same trial judge for sentencing on the failure to register charge and to plead guilty to possession of the drug phentermine. The judge said to Lewis at the beginning:

We’d already talked about or had a hearing on one of the charges, and I made a finding in that case, and I believe I have found that you were guilty of failure to register first offense as opposed to the second offense they were attempting to charge you with.

R. 55, ll. 1 – R. 56, ll. 16.

The judge sentenced Lewis to six months with credit for one day on the failure to register charge. He was sentenced to time served on the drug charge of 276 days. R. 64, ll. 1 – R. 66, ll.

10.

On June 10, 2016, a hearing was held to consider defense counsel's motion pursuant to Rule 29, SCRCrimP based on the sentencing credits. R. 70, ll. 1-7. Defense counsel gave a brief history of the case for the judge. Counsel stated:

As you recall, we had a bench trial in this case back in March for failure to register as a sex offender. He was indicted as a failure to register second, and because the court found that he had not validly waived his right to counsel for his first conviction, you decided to sentence him as a first offense rather than acquitting him as I argued and I certainly respect that.

R. 70, ll. 10 – 16.

Defense counsel argued that the 276 days should apply to the failure to register charge and the drug charge if they were adjudicated the same day based on the case law. The judge decided to look at the law and make a decision. R. 75, ll. 16 – R. 77, ll. 10.

On June 28, 2016, the judge issued an order modifying the sentence for the failure to register giving Lewis credit for 172 days of presentence time citing the case of Allen v. State, 339 S.C. 393, 529 S.E.2d 541 (2000). R. 105-106. The sheriff had informed the court that the days served were actually 172 instead of 276. R. 71, ll. 16 – R. 72, ll. 10.

### **Discussion**

The Sixth Amendment provides that in “all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right.....to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.” U.S. Const.Amend.VI.

In Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367 (1979), the United States Supreme Court held that “the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution require only that no indigent criminal defendant be sentenced to a term of imprisonment unless the state has afforded him the right to assistance of appointed counsel in his defense.”

In Nichols v. United States, 511 U.S. 738 (1994), the United States Supreme court held that consistent with the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, a sentencing court may consider a

defendant's previous uncounseled misdemeanor conviction in sentencing him for a subsequent offense so long as the previous uncounseled misdemeanor conviction did not result in a sentence of imprisonment.

On appeal of a denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, the Supreme Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state. State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004). A trial judge should grant a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. Id.; State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error. State v. Arnold, *supra*. A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the state fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

In State v. Cain, Op. No. 27694 (2016) (has not been released for publication as of this writing), the Supreme Court reversed Cain's conviction for trafficking in methamphetamine because the trial court erred in denying Cain's motion for a directed verdict. Cain argued that the state did not produce sufficient evidence as to the amount of drugs required for trafficking. The Supreme Court agreed with Cain and reversed.