**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-001407

---

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Tony Randall Lewis,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED  
APPELLATE DIVISION  
JAN 24 2017  
8:36 AM

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court properly sentenced Appellant for first offense failure to register on the sex offender registry after he was convicted in a bench trial.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## ARGUMENT

### I. **The trial court properly sentenced Appellant for first offense failure to register on the sex offender registry after he was convicted in a bench trial.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal on the charge Appellant failed to properly register on the sex offender registry. Appellant's contention his prior uncounseled conviction required acquittal on the current charge confuses a directed verdict with the unconstitutionality of using the prior conviction for sentence enhancement. The trial court properly found Appellant could not be sentenced under the provisions of section 23-3-470 of the South Carolina Code as a second offense. The trial court also found the provision for sentence enhancement related to the number of the offense was not an element and, therefore, a directed verdict was not appropriate. Finally, any argument the trial court needed to remand the case to magistrate court is not preserved for review on appeal and because jurisdiction was proper in the circuit court it is entirely without merit.

The United States Supreme Court has held: "the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution require only that no indigent criminal defendant be sentenced to a term of imprisonment unless the State has afforded him the right to assistance of appointed counsel in his defense." Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367, 373-74 (1979). The Court then extended the ruling holding: "The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution prohibit a prior uncounseled conviction resulting in a sentence of imprisonment from being used to **enhance the punishment** for a subsequent conviction." State v. Spratt, 383 S.C. 212, 213, 678 S.E.2d 266, 267 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing Nichols v. United States, 511 U.S. 738 (1994)) (emphasis added).

The statute pursuant to which Appellant was indicted reads:

(A) It is the duty of the offender to contact the sheriff in order to register . . . . If an offender fails to register, . . . as required by this article, he must be punished as provided in subsection (B).

(B)(1) A person convicted for a first offense is guilty of a misdemeanor and may be fined not more than one thousand dollars, or imprisoned for not more than three hundred sixty-six days, or both. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 22-3-540, 22-3-545, 22-3-550, or any other provision of law, a first offense may be tried in magistrates court.

(2) A person convicted for a second offense is guilty of a misdemeanor and must be imprisoned for a mandatory period of three hundred sixty-six days, no part of which shall be suspended nor probation granted.

(3) A person convicted for a third or subsequent offense is guilty of a felony and must be imprisoned for a mandatory period of five years, three years of which shall not be suspended nor probation granted.

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470 (Supp. 2016). Subsection A of the statute sets for the elements of the crime. It requires 1) a duty to contact the sheriff to register and 2) a failure on the part of the individual to register. These are the only elements of the crime established by the legislature. Subsection B merely provides the penalties and includes sentence enhancement for a second and subsequent offense. The indication of a defendant's violation being a second or subsequent offense is not required in the indictment and is not required to be proven at trial until the sentencing phase when it would be used for enhancement purposes. See e.g., State v. Scriven, 339 S.C. 333, 338, 529 S.E.2d 71, 73 (Ct. App. 2000) ("Scriven was charged and convicted of violating S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370. This section makes it illegal to distribute marijuana and cocaine. Although it contains provisions for **sentence enhancement** upon conviction for a second or greater offense, these provisions are **not elements** of the offense." (Emphasis added)).

Accordingly, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion to direct a verdict of acquittal based on the fact it found Appellant's prior conviction for failing to register was an uncounseled conviction. Instead the trial court properly refused to consider the offense for purposes of sentence enhancement. Appellant's counsel, while previously moving for an acquittal, acknowledged the cases indicate that the prior conviction simply cannot be used for enhancement. The following colloquy occurred:

Q. Well, Mr. Anderson, I think you were saying, in quoting those cases or using them for the proposition that if he's uncounseled, . . . that that can not be used - - that conviction can not be used for enhancement. That's what you say that case says.

A. Yes, judge, because he was sentenced to jail time. So he got - - it was a fine or 30 days. He already served part of the 30 days cause he's been arrested.

.....  
A. So those cases say that if you are sentenced to imprisonment, an uncounseled conviction can not be used to an - - for an enhancement.

(3/16T.48; R.48). As a result, the trial court correctly found "the existence of a prior conviction for failure to register is not an element of the indicted offense," but "merely a fact that alters the potential punishment." (March 28 Order p.2; R.108). The trial court properly denied the motion for an acquittal and determined it was appropriate to "sentence him in accordance with the penalties associated with a first failure to register"—sentencing Appellant to six months, which is clearly within the sentencing range for a first offense failure to register. (March 28 Order p.2-3; R.108-09); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(B)(1).

Appellant also seems to make the argument that the circuit court should have referred the case to the magistrate court once he determined the current offense would be considered a first offense for sentencing purposes. The argument is not preserved for review on appeal because Appellant never asked the circuit court to send the proceedings to the magistrate court. See State

v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (“For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.”); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

Further, the issue is entirely without merit. According to section 23-3-470(B)(1): “Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 22-3-540, 22-3-545, 22-3-550, or any other provision of law, a first offense **may** be tried in magistrates court.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(B)(1) (Supp. 2016) (emphasis added). The statute makes it clear the circuit court has jurisdiction over a trial for a first offense, or the magistrate **may** hear the trial if it is brought in magistrate court. In the instant case, the charge was brought in circuit court, where it was entirely proper.<sup>1</sup>

Accordingly, the trial court properly denied Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict of acquittal. The trial court properly retained jurisdiction over the case, and properly sentenced Appellant within the range provided for by section 23-3-470(B)(1). As a result, Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

---

<sup>1</sup> It should be noted the language of section 23-3-470(B)(1) is important because it has to specifically exclude the first offense failure to register from the sections establishing jurisdiction of the magistrate court in order to even allow the offense to be heard by a magistrate. Section 22-3-540 gives magistrates exclusive jurisdiction over all criminal cases where the punishment does not exceed a \$100 fine or thirty days imprisonment. Section 22-3-545 states cases involving crimes punishable by no more than \$5,000, one year imprisonment, or both may be transferred from general sessions to magistrate’s court. The punishment for a first offense failure to register can be up to 366 days, or greater than one year. As a result, the offense could not be heard in magistrate court at all without the specific provision of the statute allowing it to be heard by a magistrate.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.